Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1977

O.B. Oberhansly, Dennis Wilcox And Robert May v. Don B. Earle, Betty Earle And Rainbow Properties Corporation, A Utah Corporation: Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellants Dennis Wilcox and Robert May appeal from the judgement of the District Court of the Fourth Judicial District in and for Uintah County which granted these appellants an award in equity of \$2,040.93 and denied these appellants enforcement of an agreement between the parties to this suit.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

A trial on the merits was held on the 24th day of March,

1976 in the District Court of the Fourth Judicial District in

and for Uintah County, the Honorable J. Robert Bullock presiding

and sitting without a jury. After hearing all the evidence and

having taken the matter under advisement, the court issued a

memorandum decision and subsequently issued finds of fact and con
clusions of law holding the agreement ambiguous and ambivalent.

The court further determined that although the agreement was

not enforceable, equitable principles indicated that legal rela
tionships had been created and that plaintiffs were entitled to

damages in the amount of \$4,040.93. Upon motion by defendants

the award was reduced to \$2,040.93.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants Dennis Wilcox and Robert May seek to have the lower court's order set aside and to have this court enter an

order upholding the agreement between the parties and holding defendants liable for checks drawn on insufficient funds in accordance with Utah Statutes.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about December 6, 1974 plaintiffs and defendants entered into an agreement whereby defendants were to purchase all of the Capital Stock in Basin Distributing Co. for \$6,000.00 defendants were given the option to stay in the premises until they decided to move, paying \$350.00 per month as rental; defendants were given the option to use a truck so long as they maintained the lease on said truck. (See Exhibit 5) Exhibit 5 also indicates that defendants were to purchase all of Basin Distributing inventory at the price of \$4,040.93. (TT, 54) Plaintiffs admitted receiving a \$500.00 down payment for the Capital Stock in Basin Distributing (TT, 53) and all parties admitted that the balance on the Capital Stock in Basin Distributing was evidenced by a promissory note in the amount of \$5,500.00. (See Exhibit | It was also admitted by all parties that a \$350.00 check for rent from December 6, 1974 to January 6, 1975 was paid, received, (TT, 26) deposited and enured to the benefit of plaintiffs. All parties further admit that a \$1500.00 cash down payment was made on the inventory. (TT, 50)

Defendant Betty Earle admitted making and giving a check in the amount of \$1540.93 to plaintiffs to be applied towards inventory. (TT,23) Plaintiff Dennis Wilcox testified at some length that this check was presented for collection and was

returned unpaid. (TT, 40-42) It was further admitted by defendants that a \$1500.00 check with date of January 6, 1975 was received as payment on inventory and was not honored by the bank on which it was drawn. (See Defendant's Answer, R. 6) Defendants also admitted giving a second \$350.00 check to be applied as January 6, 1975 rent to plaintiffs and that it, too, was returned unpaid. (See Defendant's Answer, R. 6)

There was some question as to when, in fact, defendants assumed control of Basin Distributing Company. The Earnest Money Receipt recites that defendants assumed control on December 6, 1974. (See Exhibit 5) Defendant Don B. Earle testified that he did not assume control until December 16, 1974.

(TT, 62) Mr. Earle further testified that he operated Basin Distributing Company from December 16, 1974 until about two weeks after February 3, 1975. (TT, 70 and 76)

It was brought out at trial that neither of the defendants complied with the statutory licensing provisions of the Utah Code with respect to distributors of alcoholic beverages.

(TT, 101-103) It was further received into evidence that defendants were aware that there were laws to be complied with but that they were not fully apprised of their substance; that plaintiff O. B. Oberhansley agreed to maintain his license until such time as defendants could obtain theirs and, in fact, did so.

ARGUMENT

The lower court, without stating why, indicates in its memorandum opinion that the agreement between the parties is ambiguous and ambivalent, and that all collateral agreements are ambivalent, ambiguous and loose. Apparently the lower court decided that since there was ambiguity the contract was not enforceable. The fact that some ambiguity exists does not in and of itself render a contract unenforceable, and it is appellants' contention that the required amount of ambiguity was not present in this case.

The general rule is well stated in 17 Am Jur 2d, Contracts, §76, wherein it states:

> The degree of definiteness and certainty required has been variously stated. is said that it must be possible to ascertain the full meaining with reasonable certainty, or that the obligations of the parties must be <u>reasonably</u> certain....The agreement must be certain and unequivocal in its essential terms either within itself or by reference to some other agreement or matter....It has been said that an agreement to be binding must be sufficiently definite to enable the court to determine its exact meaning and fix definitely the legal liability of the parties.

Absolute certainty is not required, however; only reasonable certainty is necessary. A contract is not subject to the objection that it is indefinite so long as the parties can tell when it has been performed, and it is enough if, when that time arrives, there is in existence some standard by which performance can be tested. (emphasis added)

Applying these standards to the contract in this case, it becomes clear that this contract is not so indefinite that it is unenforceable. The contract provides for several dif-ቸውምሮክታት ዓትር ውጤያ Lay forag ፈጣተውያ for ¶g) ization provided by the Utah State Library.

Machine deposited OCD mountains a control of the Contr

butorship for the stated price of \$6,000.00, \$500.00 to be paid on December 6, 1974 as a down payment and \$500.00 a month beginning January 10, 1975 until paid in full with interest at 7% on the unpaid balance, the monthly payments including the interest; 2) it provides for the sale of inventory that was to be counted on December 6, 1974, said sale to be in an amount different from the \$6,000.00 previously mentioned and quite easily determined by the court to have been \$4,040.93; 3) it provides for a rental option at \$350.00 per month should the buyers wish to remain in the building and further provides that at the expiration of 8 months the rental would increase if buyers were still present on the premises; 4) finally it provides that in the event buyers wish to continue the lease on the truck they, buyers, will pay sellers \$1,000.00 and that buyers will assume all obligations after December 6, 1974 and that any bills already paid will be refunded to sellers.

It is not appellants' contention that the contract is completely clear, but appellants do contend that the contract is sufficiently clear in its major points that reference to other facts will clarify the minor problems completely. For example, with respect to the rental clause: it was defendants' contention in their pleading that they did not rent the building per se.

Appellants do not argue that point and defendants' position is entirely consistent with the contract. Appellants' contention in the lower court was not that defendants had rented the building per se, but only that in accordance with the terms of the contract, defendants did, in fact, occupy the building and since they had occupied, defendants owed rent for the period of their occupancy. The options of the contract of the period of their occupancy. The options of the contract of the period of their occupancy. The options of the contract of the period of their occupancy.

not the contract was ambiguous but whether or not defendants had occupied the building for the period of time specified in appellants' complaint. If there was any question as to whether or not defendants understood the terms of the rental clause a cursory look at the evidence admissible to clarify any supposed ambiguity on the part of defendants would clearly indicate that they knew perfectly well what the clause meant. They paid \$350.00 rent in December and tendered a bad check in the same amount in January. Both checks were admittedly for rent. From the evidence, therefore, there can be no question that defendants understood what the clause meant. Dennis Wilcox testified that he knew that defendants were present and occupying the building until March of 1975.(TT,43) That testimony was uncontradicted by way of rebuttal or cross-examination even though ample opportunity was available to defendants to do so.

Similarly, with respect to the truck, any ambiguities were cleared up quite quickly. The evidence was quite clear in identifying the truck. (TT, 44) The only question was whether or not the defendants had exercised their option to continue leasing the truck. No time limit is specified for the exercising of the option but a reasonable time would certainly be applicable. The evidence again indicated that for the entire time that the defendants owned and operated the Basin Distributing Company they had use of the truck. (TT, 44) That testimony was uncontradicted and indicated that the defendants used the truck for approximately two months. With their knowledge that the truck was undering the second that the truck

Each of the other points in the contract was similarly explainable and the evidence tended to show that each of the parties knew precisely what was demanded of him by the contract. The fact that the contract was placed on Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase is really of no significance. None of the parties argued that they did not receive a parcel of land and it is quite apparent from the document that it was never intended as a sale of land. All parties were well informed as to the items being sold or exchanged. Although certainly an awkward method of proceedure such a circumstance without more does not meet the criteria of ambiguity.

Of significance in this context is the comment of the judge in the lower court at the end of the trial and appellants include this comment with all due respect and deference to the judge.

THE COURT: You will submit it without argument? All right. I'll take this matter under advisement. I would only make this comment, and probably should not make it, but it sounds to me as if something that could have been avoided just plain wasn't because of negligence, and perhaps a loss occurred that might never to have occurred. (sic) Doesn't appear from my observation of the evidence that there's any dishonesty, any intent to take advantage of anybody in any respect. There was just plain negligence on the part of somebody that resulted in an unfortunate loss. cause there is no question but what there is a loss.

Although it is certainly difficult to view negligence and observe a loss that is not a reason to invalidate a valid contract, rather it is grounds for apportioning responsibility and allocating damages if any exist based on applicable duties.

Therefore, appellants submit to the court that this contract does not meet the criteria for non-enforcement because the contract was not ambiguous.

POINT II

THERE WAS SUFFICIENT CONSIDERATION AND PERFORMANCE TO UPHOLD THE AGREEMENT.

The law dealing with partial performance and partial failure of consideration is discussed in 17 Am Jur 2d, Contracts, §398. The Utah Supreme Court has agreed with the statement in Am Jur 2d as a general principal of law in Prudential Federal Savings and Loan Association v. Hartford Acc. and Ind. Co., 7 Ut.2d 366, 325 P.2d 899 (1958). At 325 P.2d 903 the general rule of law is stated to be precisely as Am Jur indicates. The general principle is that failure of consideration is not a sufficient excuse for non-performance of a promise unless the failure goes to the essence of the contract.

For purposes of this point, appellants will assume that the were required to give "signed agreements with the Beer Companies to show they have exclusive right to sell in this area." Furthermore, for purposes of this point, appellants will admit that they did not give signed agreements. In so admitting, appellant does not admit that it did not perform the contract. Appellant simply admits that it did not give signed documents to defendant indicating exclusive rights.

this such a lack of consideration that defendants are now free from performing their promises? The answer to that question must be no.

The cited authorities indicate that the lack of consideration must go to the heart of the agreement. If the lack of consideration is insubstantial, then the defendants cannot decline to perform. They may collect damages for the failure, but they must perform their part of the agreement.

In the case at bar, the allegation of the counterclaim was that the failure to tender to the defendants signed agreements caused the business to fail. At the trial defendants tried to prove that this was the case. There was extensive treatment of this issue and the court declined to grant defendants counterclaim because there was no showing that defendants were in any way damaged by the failure of appellants to tender the signed agreements. (TT, 70-80). At the termination of this long discourse between counsel and the court and the questions of evidence, the court stated:

Well, I've got to have in order to hold for the defendant, it seems, on its Counterclaim it seems to me that I have to have some kind of evidence that the sellers here did not perform their bargain or did not deliver what they were required to deliver and that the failure or delivery resulted in damage to the defendant. (TT, 80)

Such evidence was not forthcoming, in spite of the fact that the court allowed defendants four weeks extension to produce witnesses to testify as to the damage caused by the plaintiff's lack of signed agreements. The burden of proof was not met.

The evidenced these curses Large bending and entire the content of the Compact Charles and Technology Act, administered by the Unit State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

were able to continue operating the business with no damage what soever. The fact that Schlitz refused to sell defendants any more beer was in no way linked to the actions of plaintiffs.

Under these circumstances defendants must perform their promise because they have no excuse for non-performance.

POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN NOT ENFORCING THE UTAH CODE WITH RESPECT TO CHECKS WRITTEN ON INSUFFICIENT FUNDS.

Under this point appellants will assume, arguendo, that the failure of plaintiffs to give defendants actual written documents was a failure of consideration. Even under these circumstances it was error for the court to not have enforced against defendants the Utah Statutes prohibiting the writing of checks drawn on insufficient funds and providing for the remedies prayed for in plaintiffs' complaint.

In 2 ALR 643 there is an extensive examination of the severability of contracts and when a contract can be divided so that failure of consideration in one area of the contract does not destroy the entire contract. In effect, the case law indicates that if the contract is not simply one whole or entire sale whereby if one part fails all the parts fail, the contract is severable into its parts and failure of consideration for one part does not release a defendant from complying with promises made in other parts of the contract. The ALR discussion points out that one of the tests is: Can the plaintiff point

to a separate sale price for each item? The article goes on to indicate that this test does not mean that if one were selling twenty cars and simply divided the total sale price by twenty one has arrived at a separate sale price for each item. The test requires that there not be a total sale price for the entire "package" but that each item almost be listed separately with its own price or that there be almost an entire separate agreement for each item or group of items or that in some way the payment can be apportioned to each item.

Applying these principles to the case at bar, it is quite clear that the rental agreement is a completely separate item within the meaning of the rules stated above. The purchase of the inventory is also a separate item as is the leasing of the truck. Each item is separate and distinct. None of the items depend on any of the others to make them a whole contract. For example, the consideration for the inventory is the inventory itself. Plaintiffs promised to place the inventory in the hands of the defendants for the defendants promise to pay cash for the articles. Similarly, the consideration for the rental agreement was the giving up of the building space by the plaintiff to the defendant. Finally, the consideration for the lease clause was the giving of the use of the truck to the defendants on the assumption that the defendants would also continue the lease payments. In each case the consideration for the clause is a separate and distinct act on the part of the plaintiff, and in each case a separate and distinct amount of money or purchase price is applicable to the distinct items.

Under these circumstances the writing of checks drawn on insufficing to the company of the compa

of Basin Distributing inventory cannot be excused because the contracts were unenforcable. The contracts were enforceable, as appellants have demonstrated under previous points of this brief. Furthermore under the discussion of this point, even if the lack of signed agreements is a lack of consideration for a part of this contract, it is not a sufficient lack of consideration as to eradicate the defendants promises under other provisions of the contract because the contract was severable.

Defendants admitted in their answer that the checks on January 6, 1975 had been written and returned by the banks marked "refer to maker." The banks notified defendants of these two checks and defendants failed to comply with the statutory proceedure to cure the defect in a timely manner and, indeed, continue to refuse to do so. Under these circumstances, plaintiffs should have been awarded damages for these checks and reasonable attorney's fees.

SUMMARY

The agreement which is at issue in this case was an enforceable agreement. Defendants did not perform under the agreement as they promised and plaintiffs, in being damaged thereby, should have received judgement as prayed for in their complaint.

DATED this 30th day of April, 1977.

Noberthe Rac

Robert M. McRae Attorney for Appellants 370 East 5th South Salt Lake City, Utah 84111