1977

O.B. Oberhansly, Dennis Wilcox And Robert May
v. Don B. Earle, Betty Earle And Rainbow
Properties Corporation, A Utah Corporation :
Defendants-Respondents Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

To say that the "Sellers will provide signed agreements with the Beer Companys to show they have exclusive right to sell in this area" is not of essence is to ignore the written documents and to ignore all of the testimony at the time of trial.

When Exhibit 5 is examined, and more particularly lines 5 through 10, it can be seen that the parties were dealing with distributorship rights. The area of Duchesne and Uintah Counties and part of Wasatch is described. The distributorship is for Schlitz, Miller and Hamms Beer and R. C. Cola and Frostie Root Beer. It is also stated that the distributorship is trying to get A & W Root Beer and will pass these rights also. These provisions were typed.

By virtue of position and the manner in which it is written, i.e., by hand, the date of possession was an afterthought.

Again, the position and the manner of writing, i.e., "All stock in Basin Dist Co. included," was also an afterthought. This statement follows the handwritten statement with respect to possession and the type-written statement with respect to distributorship rights. It is also in a

different shade and intensity of ink. This indicates that the consideration of stock was also an afterthought.

Since the reference is to stock only, it could have referred to the stock in trade or the capital stock. This was not spelled out in the writing. These facts give weight to the conclusion that the thing for which the Defendants-Respondents were bargaining was the distributorship rights and not the capital stock of Basin Distributing Company.

That the reference could have been to "stock in trade" is supported by Exhibit 2, check #184 signed by Betty Earle, on which is recited in the lower left-hand corner, "For Basin Distributing Stock." This check was considered by all and recognized by all at the time of trial to be a check given for stock in trade to be held until replaced.

Next, part of line 24 and lines 25 and 26 of Exhibit 5 should be considered. There it is recited, "Sellers will provide signed agreements with the Beer Companies to show they have exclusive right to sell in this area." When considered in the light of all the facts and circumstances in the case, it appears that the importance was attached to the exclusive rights of sale and not to the dealership or to the stock in Basin Distributing Company. The parties were dealing with the rights of sale as being of value and dealership as being of little or no value.

A separate provision was made for pricing the inventory; continuation of the lease of the truck; and rent of the warehouse. The payment of the sum of \$6000.00 was for something to be delivered by the Plaintiffs-Appellant Sellers. The stock in Basin Distributing Company and disposition of the dealership were afterthoughts, assumptions of Plaintiffs-Appellants' counsel, and casual matters. The only thing of value to be exchanged for the \$6000.00 was the exclusive rights of distributorship. The significance

of this double exchange is that failure to deliver "signed agreements with the Beer Companys to show they have exclusive right to sell in this area" is a failure of consideration.

The failure to deliver the exclusive rights of sale went to the essence of the contract and the Defendants-Respondents were entitled to recover damages for the failure and were excused from giving their own counter-performance.

The testimony of Mr. Earle at the time of trial was direct and unequivocal that the exclusive rights of sale were the primary thing for which the Defendants-Respondents bargained (TT 81-82). Further, his testimony was to the effect that until he received such rights the transaction was not consummated (TT 103).

Mr. Oberhansly sat in the courtroom throughout the testimony of the Defendants-Respondents. Mr. Oberhansly was a plaintiff in the action, a party of interest in the corporation, and the primary negotiator of the contract. At no time did he take the stand to offer any explanation or denial of any of the testimony of Mr. Earle. He stood mute.

Mr. Oberhansly is not a party to this appeal.

Mr. Wilcox, a principal and officer in Basin Distributing Company, a party plaintiff to the action, and one of the witnesses at the time of the trial did not deny, explain or otherwise overcome the only conclusion that can be reached from both the documentary evidence and the testimony of the Defendants-Respondents that the rights of sale in the area were of essence to the contract and the primary consideration to be given by the Plaintiffs-Appellants to the Defendants-Respondents in return for the payment of the sum of \$6000.00.

Mr. May, a principal in Basin Distributing Company, an officer in the company, and one of the plaintiffs in this action, did not attend the

trial. Exhibit 5 was certainly available to him. It is apparent on the face of Exhibit 5 that sales rights were certainly a subject of consideration in the transaction.

No one offered evidence or contended at the time of trial that the capital stock in Basin Distributing Company had any monetary value whatsoever. That the capital stock was bargained for was an assumption of counsel for Plaintiffs-Appellants. The accounts receivable were to be retained by Basin Distributing Company. The inventory was to be paid for separately. The warehouse rent was to be paid for separately. The truck, if the lease were to be continued by the Defendants, was to be paid for by the payment of \$1000.00 on deposit, apparently with the lessors to the Plaintiffs. The only thing of value that can be considered as being required as consideration for the payment of the sum of \$6000.00 is the exclusive rights of sale of beer in the area defined in Exhibit 5.

The failure of the Plaintiffs-Appellants to deliver signed agreements with the beer companies showing exclusive rights of sale in the area of Duchesne, Uintah and part of Wasatch Counties was a failure of consideration that would excuse the performance by the Defendants-Respondents of the payment of \$6000.00. Such a failure of consideration would also be the grounds for the award of damages to the Defendants-Respondents. The denial of the receipt of evidence showing the damages of the Defendants-Respondents was on the basis of hearsay evidence. Such was not the fact with respect to the failure of consideration and excuse from performance by the Defendants-Respondents. It would be error to hold that there was sufficient consideration and performance to uphold the enforcement of the agreement for the Defendants-Respondents to pay the sum of \$6000.00.

POINT III

WHERE PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS FAILED TO PERFORM CONDITIONS PRECEDENT OR CONCURRENT, OR, DID NOT GIVE THE CONSIDERATION BARGAINED FOR BY THE DEFENDANTS-RESPONDENTS AND THE TRIAL COURT AWARDED PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS \$616.05 EXCESSIVE DAMAGES TO MEET THE ONLY EVIDENCE OF ACTUAL LOSSES SHOWN UNDER POSSIBLE ANCILLARY TERMS OF A CONTRACT, IF THE TRIAL COURT DID ERR IN HOLDING THE CONTRACT AND THE ACTION OF THE PARTIES AMBIGUOUS, UNCERTAIN, CONFLICTING AND AMBIVALENT, SUCH ERROR WOULD BE HARMLESS AND DAMAGES TO THE PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS SHOULD BE REDUCED TO \$1424.88.

The document and the acts of the parties that is the subject of litigation was an offer made by the Earles, Defendants-Respondents, under date of December 5, 1974 (Ex. 5). This offer was accepted by Messrs. Oberhansly, Wilcox and May, Plaintiffs-Appellants. Under that offer Defendants-Respondents tendered the performance of certain acts: delivery of the down payment of \$500.00, which also constituted a monthly payment. Upon acceptance, the Plaintiffs-Appellants were then to perform acts: the Plaintiffs-Appellants were to deliver on December 5, 1974, the "distributorship for Schlitz, Miller and Hamms Beer and R. C. Cola and Frostie Root Beer." There was to be a delivery of rights acquired in the future, A & W Root Beer. All stock in Basin Distributing Company was to be delivered (lines 9 and 10, Ex. 5). The kind of stock, in trade or capital, was not defined. The parties were to count all inventory on hand on December 6, 1974. Defendants-Respondents were to pay cash for the inventory (lines 14, 15 and 16, Ex. 5). The Defendants-Respondents were to: give a note for the purchase price (lines 20-24, Ex. 5). The Plaintiffs-Appellants were to: "Provide signed agreements with the Beer Companys to show they have exclusive right to sell in this area" (lines 24, 25 and 26, Ex. 5) Delivery of these documents was

to have been on December 6, 1974, as again recited on line 29 of Exhibit:

The respective parties performed on December 6, 1974, to the following extent: The parties took inventory of the warehouse, but not the truck (TT 59). Defendants-Respondents (1) delivered \$1500.00 cash in payment on the inventory (TT 64); (2) gave a check in the sum of \$1540.93, which check was to be held until another check was given to replace it (TT 64); (3) gave \$500.00 in cash toward the \$6000.00 purchase price (TT 59); and (4) gave a note in the sum of \$5500.00 to Plaintiffs-Appellants to be paid at the rate of \$500.00 per month (Ex. 1).

Plaintiffs-Appellants continued operation of the business until December 17, 1974, sold from the inventory and incurred additional claims.

The Plaintiffs-Appellants did not perform the condition, "Sellers will provide signed agreements with the Beer Companys to show they have exclusive right to sell in this area." (Lines 24, 25 and 26, Ex. 5).

The distributorship rights were the only reason that Mr. Earle bought the business (TT 81). The distributorship rights were of primary importance to Mr. Earle (TT 82). Without the exclusive rights of distributorship Mr. Earle would never have bought the distributorship (TT 82). Mr. Earle asked for signed agreements showing exclusive rights of distributorship on many occasions. He made the first request on December 6, 1974 (TT 82). Mr. Earle asked Mr. Oberhansly every time he saw Mr. Oberhansly and sometimes by phone for the written evidence of the rights of distributorship (TT 82-83).

Mr. Earle also asked My May for written evidence on the rights of distributorship on December 6 or 7, 1974, at Mr. May's office in Vernal. Mr. May said that he did not have them but would get them. That Mr. May would secure those in writing for Mr. Earle (TT 83).

Mr. Earle had not met Mr. Wilcox and consequently did not ask Mr. Wilcox for written evidence of exclusive rights of distributorship (TT 84).

Mr. Oberhansly offered no explanation as to why he did not produce the signed agreements with the beer companies. Mr. Earle assumed it was procrastination (TT 84). As the result of this failure to deliver the signed agreements showing exclusive rights of distributorship with certain beer companies, Mr. Earle testified that he considered the contract never came into existence and that the Defendants never really took over (TT 103-105).

No evidence was given at the time of trial to explain failure. Mr. Oberhansly, present at the trial, did not deny any part of the Defendants' testimony.

This failure to deliver signed agreements with the beer companies of exclusive rights of distributorship can be viewed as follows: (1) Failure to perform a condition precedent; (2) Failure to perform a condition concurrent; or, (3) That there was a failure of consideration.

If the failure to deliver "signed agreements with the Beer Companies to show they have exclusive right to sell in this area" is the failure to perform a condition precedent, no contract came into existence.

If the failure to deliver "signed agreements with the Beer Companies to show they have exclusive right to sell in this area" is the failure to perform a condition concurrent with the delivery of the note and the \$500.00 as down payment on the distributorship, then the Defendants-Respondents were excused from further performance because of failure to perform a condition concurrent.

If the view is adopted that the failure to deliver the "signed agreements with the Beer Companies to show they have exclusive right to sell in this area" is the failure of consideration, then the Defendants-Respondents are excused from performance by failure of consideration. That the "signed agreements" were material is pointed out above by Mr. Earle's testimony which

was not rebutted in any way.

That the Plaintiffs Wilcox and May recognized this term of the contract, i.e., "signed agreements with the Beer Companies to show they have exclusive right to sell in this area" is evidenced by their Reply to the Defendants' Counterclaim (R 11), more particularly, paragraph 2 of said Reply, which states "Admit paragraph 2 and Plaintiffs further allege that said signed agreements were in fact delivered to the Defendants in the form of United States Government License, which in the industry acts as the exclusive right to sell document or documents, as the case may be, with the subject beer companies." This allegation was neither supported by evidence or argument by the Plaintiffs Wilcox and May at the time of trial.

The Plaintiff Oberhansly, in his Reply, "Answer of O. B. Oberhansly to Counterclaim" (R 17) recognized the provision in the contract but then attempted to explain it away. Mr. Oberhansly did not even take the stand during the trial even though he was present at all times. Nor did Mr. Oberhansly deny the demands made on him by Mr. Earle.

If the view is taken that there is severability and that the foregoing disposes of the purchase of the distributorship, then consideration might be given to the cost of the inventory, rent of the warehouse and the truck. However, it should be noted that neither the warehouse nor the truck were of any use to the Defendants-Respondents unless they had the distributorship. Or, at least they were not forced out of business by the lack of a product to sell that was saleable in the market.

In considering the inventory the trial judge did award the sum of \$4040.93 with interest at the rate of 8% per annum from February 11, 1975, that amount being the value of the inventory on or about December 5, 1974 (R 101). Against this was subsequently allowed the sum of \$2000.00, which sum was represented by an allowance of \$1500.00 cash paid on the inventory

and the \$500.00 cash paid on the distributorship.

The allowance of \$2000.00 did not make allowance for the shortages of the inventory and purchases and sales that occurred between December 6, 1974, and December 16 or 17, 1974. The shortages totalled \$1316.05 (TT 63). The benefits of these deliveries and the shortages of inventory did not inure to the benefit of the Defendants-Respondents. These shortages were not mentioned by the trial court at the time.

If the view is taken that the warehouse was severable from the rest of the contract, then the rent for the month of January, i.e., from January 6 to February 6, would have been more than offset by the shortage of inventory. This allowance would have been consistent with the testimony of Mr. Earle that the Earles operated Basin Distributing Company from December 17, 1974, until February 3, 1975, at which time Gateway Distributing Company, which delivered or handled Schlitz Beer, Hamms Beer and Millers Beer, refused to make deliveries to Basin Distributing Company (TT 74). The only subsequent activities of the Earles was the Earles' attempt to continue operation after February 3, 1975, after canvassing their accounts and finding that they could no longer operate profitably because Schlitz Beer accounted for the major portion of their sales and Basin Distributing Company could no longer sell Schlitz Beer (TT 76-77).

In considering the severability of the arrangements with respect to the truck, there was an addition to Exhibit 5 which provided "Betty will pay sellers also for \$1000.00 on truck. If Betty chooses to continue lease on truck." This provision was at the option of the Earles. There was no testimony or evidence submitted at the time of trial as to (1) the amount of the rental for the truck, (2) the cause of the loss of the truck or repossession, or (3) whether or not the \$1000.00 deposit was forfeited for any reason attributable to the acts of the Defendants-Respondents. Insofar

as the evidence submitted at the time of trial was concerned, the Plaintiffs-Appellants may have been able to recover their \$1000.00 deposit from the sale of the truck except for Plaintiffs-Appellants' own acts or omissions. The only evidence at trial was Mr. Wilcox when he testified that he, Mr. Wilcox, did not receive the \$1000.00 described in Ex. 5 (TT 45).

Again, with respect to the severability of the provision of Exhibit 5 with respect to the truck, the shortage of the inventory after December 6, i.e., on December 16 or 17, may have more than offset any loss of rental paid or to be paid on the truck.

Exhibit 5 failed as a contract between the parties because of the failure to perform a condition precedent or concurrent by delivery of "signed agreements with the Beer Companies to show they have exclusive right to sell in this area" or as a failure to perform the same condition as a condition concurrent. Furthermore, performance by the Plaintiffs-Appellants failed for a lack of consideration for failure to deliver "signed agreements with the Beer Companies to show they have exclusive right to sell in this area."

That the provision for "signed agreements" was material both as a condition precedent, concurrent, or as consideration was the abundant testimony of Mr. Earle about demands for "signed agreements," and Mr. Earle's testimony that the contract never came into existence as the result of failure to deliver "signed agreements" (TT 103-105). Yet, at no time did Mr. Oberhansly take the stand and deny any part of the testimony with respect to his conversation with Mr. May. It is recognized that Mr. May was absent at the time of trial. However, had he been interested in pursuing his rights, he would have been present.

The trial court action is further supported by the fact that the discrepancy or deficiency in the inventory would more than offset any shortage in the rent.

Further, the shortage in inventory and the additional charges against the company between December 6 and 16 or 17, 1974, may have more than offset any loss of the deposit on the truck as the result of any acts of the Defendants-Respondents. There was no evidence at the time of trial of the actual pecuniary loss by the Plaintiffs-Appellants with respect to the truck as the result of any acts of the Defendants-Respondents. The only testimony at trial was that Mr. Wilcox did not receive the \$1000.00 deposit (TT 45). Others could have received the \$1000.00. The deposit may have been lost because the Plaintiffs-Appellants were in default on the lease.

Assuming the contract might have been clear and unambiguous, Plaintiffs-Appellants did not meet the conditions precedent, concurrent or perform materially by delivering a distributorship with "signed agreements." Furthermore, the Plaintiffs-Appellants received more than adequate compensation for those parts of the contract that might be considered severable. If the trial court erred in holding the contract and actions of the parties ambiguous, uncertain, conflicting and ambivalent, it would be harmless error. That it was harmless error can be seen when the monetary value of actual losses established are considered:

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